IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-KA-01799-COA

DANNY JERARD JACKSON

APPELLANT

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of this Court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal:

Mr. Danny Jerard Jackson, Appellant;

Jim Davis, Esq., trial attorney;

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT GRANTED THE STATE'S JURY INSTRUCTION PLACING A TIME LIMIT ON DELIBERATE DESIGN AND REFUSED THE DEFENDANT'S JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE MEANING AND APPLICATION OF THE LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE OF "HEAT OF PASSION" MANSLAUGHTER.

ISSUE TWO:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT ALLOWED THE PROSECUTION TO USE IMPERMISSIBLE, HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL, AND IRRELEVANT IMPEACHMENT TACTICS ON DEFENSE CHARACTER WITNESS TERRY KING BY ALLOWING THE STATE TO USE A PRIOR DRUG CONVICTION IN VIOLATION OF MISSISSIPPI RULE OF EVIDENCE 609.

ISSUE THREE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED THE DEFENSE MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT AT THE END OF THE STATE'S CASE-IN-CHIEF ON THE CHARGE OF MURDER, THEREBY REFUSING TO ALLOW THE CASE TO PROCEED ON THE LESSER-INCLUDED CHARGE OF MANSLAUGHTER, AS WELL AS REFUSING TO GRANT THE DEFENSE MOTION TO SET THE JURY'S VERDICT ASIDE AND GRANT A NEW TRIAL

BASED ON ALL OF THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL.

STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION

Danny Jerard Jackson is presently incarcerated in the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This honorable Court has jurisdiction of this case pursuant to Article 6, Section 146 of the Mississippi Constitution and Miss. Code Ann. 99-35-101 (Supp. 2001).

STATEMENT IN SUPPORT OF ORAL ARGUMENT

This case is very fact-intensive and the Appellant, through counsel, would respectfully request this Court to grant oral argument to present conflicts in the rulings of the trial court based on the evidence and testimony presented at trial that are alleged by the Appellant to be erroneous.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For months Danny Jackson chased his wife and his marriage, desperately trying to avoid losing both to another man. Searching in vain for the affections of his wife, passionate re-attachment of displaced love, and, eventually, cool reason, Danny became someone capable of acts unknown to him in his life. Tragically, before he could bring his wife home,

he found provocative pictures of her and her lover engaged in sex acts, her car parked at another apartment complex, and, on the night in question, the man from the pictures in a chance encounter at a convenience store. When Danny first came face-to-face with the man stealing his wife, his desperation overtook him, and he blindly committed an act of extreme and uncontrolled violence.

Danny and Angela Jackson were married in 2004. (T. II. 241) The Jackson's had four children together, and Angela cared for them. (T. II. 238) Danny worked at Gulf Coast Prestress on the coast. (T. II. 241) Angela was Danny's first wife. (T. II. 241) However, after a few years, they began to have problems when Angela began receiving late night phone calls that upset Danny. (T. II 242) She told Danny that it was only her friends calling, but he suspected that these calls were coming from old boyfriends. *Id.* Danny would pretend to be asleep, but in reality he was listening to his wife's late night conversations. (T. II. 243)

Danny accused Angela of "running the streets." (T. II. 242) She blamed their problems on him. *Id*. Sometimes, Angela would leave their home, and Danny would follow her. (T. II. 235) In early 2007, while they were living in Alabama, Angela asked for a divorce. (T. II. 235) Sometime later, they moved backed to Mississippi and were living together (T. II. 246)

In February 2007, Danny bought his wife a new cellular phone. (T. II. 245) She used it to take pictures of herself engaged in sex acts with a man Danny didn't know. (T. II. 245) Danny found these pictures and other suggestive text messages in early June of 2007. (T. II. 244) From these text messages, Danny got a name of the man sending them - "Neco." (T.

II. 244) From a co-worker, he received information about this man, Neco, including a description of this man's car - a Cadillac, similar to Danny's. (T. II. 246) Danny drove around near his home and found a car fitting the description at River Ten Apartments sometime before the end of June of 2007. (T. II. 247)

On June 27, 2007, Danny came home after work about 6:15 p.m. (T. II. 245-46) Angela brought him some food. *Id*. Danny took a bath, but by the time he got out, Angela was gone. *Id*. So, Danny went looking for his wife's van and found it at River Ten Apartments, parked beside the same care he thought belonged to "Neco." (T. II. 247) Danny started knocking on doors, looking for his wife. (T. II. 248) At approximately 9:30, Jack Powell, a security guard at the apartment complex, saw Danny knocking on doors. (T. I. 77) Powell told Danny to stop. (T. I. 78) Danny said that he was looking for his wife, whom he suspected was cheating. *Id*. Powell sympathized with Danny, but told him he needed to leave. (T. I. 79)

Danny had no designs on Neco's life when he went to River Ten Apartment and had weapon. (T. II. 248) So, he left, sure that his wife was nearby with another man. (T. II. 249) Danny went to a nearby convenience store on Creosote Road to purchase some beer and rubbing alcohol. (T. II. 249)

There, as he was leaving, he saw the man - Neco - recognizing him from the obscene pictures on his wife's cellular phone. *Id*. Danny heard his wife's voice coming from the man's phone, as they passed. (T. II. 250) Danny had a knife in his car, left over from their move from Alabama. *Id*. He confronted the man, asking his name, before things escalated.

(T. II. 251) After an argument and physical altercation, Danny stabbed Neco in front of multiple eye-witnesses. *Id.* Neco Strickland stumbled across Creosote Road, and Danny followed behind him in his car. *Id.* A witness, Michael Hale, saw Danny stab Neco again. (T. I. 124) When the witness approached Danny, he got in his car and drove away. (T. I. 127)

That night, Detective Ron Kirkland detained Danny and took a statement from him. (T. I. 148) In the statement, Danny admitted to stabbing Neco Strickland (Exh. D-4). On December 17, 2007, Danny Jackson was indicted in Harrison County Circuit Court for the murder of Neco F. Strickland (C.P. 8, R. E. 17).

At his trial, the State's case-in-chief consisted of testimony from eye-witnesses and a DNA expert (T. II. 214) After the State rested its case, the defense moved for a directed verdict as to the charge of murder, and that the case proceed on the lesser-included offense of manslaughter. (T. II. 221) However, the trial judge denied this motion. *Id.* The defense began its case with Danny's wife, Angela, who admitted to her affair with Neco. (T. II. 227) Following her testimony, Danny took the stand in his own defense. (T. II. 240) Adding to his confusion of the events of the previous weeks, Danny gave inconsistent statements to police regarding his encounter with Neco at the gas station, but Danny was consistent that he happened upon Neco Strickland accidentally. (T. II. 263; 280) Finally, the defense concluded its case with character witnesses on behalf of Danny. (T. II. 284-97) Both sides debated jury instructions, which were then given to the jury by the trial judge, including an instruction placing a time limit on deliberate design, but excluding the defense's heat of passion

instruction. (T. III. 312; 315) (CP. 93, 107; RE. 46, 47). Subsequently, the jury returned a verdict of guilty on the charge of murder, and Danny was sentenced to life in prison in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. (T. III. 344-45) The defense filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict or, in the alternative, for a new trial. (T. III. 348-61, R.E. 48-63) (CP. 125-29, RE. 20-24) However, the trial court denied this motion. (T. III. 361) (CP. 138, RE. 25-26) Feeling aggrieved by the verdict of the lower court, the Appellant filed this timely appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court on November 2, 2009. (CP. 139, RE. 27-28)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Mr. Jackson was denied a fair consideration of the evidence, which clearly showed him to be a desperate man without any premeditation or a deliberate design to murder Neco Strickland. The State's case-in-chief was totally devoid of direct evidence and included only scarce circumstantial evidence attempting to establish Mr. Jackson's state of mind in the moments before Mr. Strickland was stabbed. Meanwhile, the defense cross-examination during the State's case showed substantial evidence of Mr. Jackson's tormented state of mind, his chance encounter with Mr. Strickland at a convenience store, and - as a reasonable inference - his lack of celiberate design in the killing of his wife's paramour, Neco Strickland. Through the errors committed by the trial court as set out below, the State was able to portray Mr. Jackson as a hardened criminal, even though he had never before been violent, while

obscuring those facts that revealed him to be a hurt and anguished man who lashed out at the circumstances beyond his control.

Mr. Jackson first contends the trial court erred when it refused the defense jury instruction concerning the application of the lesser-included offense of "heat of passion" manslaughter. An accused is entitled to a jury instruction presenting his theory of the case, so long as the instruction does not incorrectly state the law, is not fairly covered elsewhere in the instructions, and is not without foundation in the evidence. All of these requirements were met in the instruction offered by the defendant. The trial court abused its discretion when the prosecution's manslaughter instruction was granted and the proposed defense jury instruction was denied, and, as a result, the jury was not allowed to fairly and accurately consider Mr. Jackson's claim of "heat of passion" mitigation to the indicted charge of murder.

Moreover, Mr. Jackson contends that the impeachment tactics employed in the cross-examination of Terry King, a character witness for the defense, violated Mississippi Rule of Evidence 609. The State used a minor drug conviction to attack King's character for truthfulness, which was improper evidence since dishonesty or a false declaration was not implicated through this injurious cross-examination. Mr. Jackson was prejudiced by this error, as the jury presumably discounted the evidence of his peaceful reputation and, instead, associated him with a convict based on his friendship with the witness.

Lastly, Mr. Jackson contends that the prosecution did not present a legally

sufficient case on the charge of deliberate design murder, nor did the overwhelming weight of the evidence support the jury's guilty verdict for the crime of deliberate design murder. The State presented no direct evidence to signify that Mr. Jackson was deliberate or that he had malice aforethought in this killing and presented only minimal circumstantial evidence. Mr. Jackson has been convicted in the killing of his wife's paramour, whom the uncontested evidence shows Mr. Jackson accidentally met for the first time at the scene of the crime. The only circumstantial evidence that tends to support deliberate design theory of prosecution is the testimony of an eyewitness who saw Mr. Jackson follow the deceased a short distance and stab him again. Even in the light most favorable to the prosecution, no rational juror could find beyond a reasonable doubt from this slight indicia of proof that Mr. Jackson was not acting in the "heat of passion." And, in the alternative, the defense case sufficiently rebutted this slight circumstantial evidence of premeditation to such a point that the cverwhelming weight of the evidence is not supportive of the jury's conviction of deliberate design murder.

Mr. Jackson was found guilty of murder, despite the overwhelming evidence clearly proving that he acted in the "heat of passion," and a complete lack of conclusive proof that he formulated a deliberate design to kill. Further, his trial was also riddled with procedural errors, which deprived him of a fundamentally fair trial. Therefore, for the above reasons, this honorable Court should reverse and render this case, thereby discharging the Appellant from custody or, in the alternative, reverse and

remand this case for a new trial, with proper instructions to the lower court.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE ONE:

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION WHEN IT GRANTED THE STATE'S JURY INSTRUCTION PLACING A TIME LIMIT ON DELIBERATE DESIGN AND REFUSED THE DEFENDANT'S JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE MEANING AND APPLICATION OF THE LESSER-INCLUDED OFFENSE OF "HEAT OF PASSION" MANSLAUGHTER.

Danny Jackson's desperate behavior on the night he stabbed Neco Strickland was an act that illustrated the fine, but distinct, differences between the legal elements of the separate crimes of murder and manslaughter. Juries must have a complete and accurate statement of the law that simply, plainly, and clearly explains the legal significance of facts without over-weighing any individual principle of law through duplication. In this case, a jury without sufficient instructions might weigh too heavily the gruesome nature of the killing of another without making intellectually and emotionally difficult decisions about Danny Jackson's state of mind. The Appellant respectfully contends that the trial court instructed the jury in a way that was overly preferential to the prosecution and deprived Danny Jackson of an opportunity to fully present his theory of the case.

The appellate review of jury instructions is well-known and summarized as follows:

Jury instructions are to be read together and taken as a whole with no one instruction taken out of context. A defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case[;] however, this entitlement is limited in that the court may refuse an instruction which

incorrectly states the law, is covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, or is without foundation in the evidence.

Agnew v. State, 783 So. 2d 699, 702 (96) (Miss. 2001).

Under this standard the trial court erred when it refused Danny Jackson's instruction, D-10. (C.P. 107, R.E. 47) This error was compounded by the trial court when it granted the State's improper jury instruction, S-9. (C.P. Supp, R.E. 46)

Defense proposed instruction D-10 read, in part:

[I]t is a jury question whether or not there has been enough time for the Defendant to cool off from his initial state of mind that would be raised to 'heat of passion.' ... Men's temperaments also very [sic] greatly ... and ... we must determine the questions of deliberate design in each case, not by the standard of an ideal 'reasonable man,' but by that of the party to whom the deliberate design is imputed.

(C.P. 107, R.E. 47) (quoting Haley v. State, 85 So.129, 132-33, 123 Miss. 87, 85 (Miss. 1920)). This instruction meets every element of this Court's requirements for jury instructions, and, therefore, it was an abuse of discretion for the trial court to exclude it for the jury's deliberations on whether Danny Jackson had a deliberate design to kill or, as was the defense theory of the case, whether he acted in the "heat of passion."

First, the defense instruction was an accurate statement of the law. The Mississippi Supreme Court in *Haley* declared the precise language set out in the proposed instruction. Though the case is from an era long past, it has been neither overruled nor distinguished. Specifically, Jackson was robbed of an express and accurate statement that "the duration of hot blood" is a <u>subjective</u> consideration, differing between and among individual persons. Jury members might have,

erroneously, considered Danny Jackson's actions of crossing the road without placing proper weight on his subjective state of mind (the only evidence offered for which was Jackson's testimony that he blacked out - testimony supportive a "hot blood"). (T. II. 251)

There is no doubt that "heat of passion" has some objective boundaries. The State's heat of passion instruction, S-5, accurately instructed, "The passion felt by the person committing the act should be induced by some insult, provocation, or injury, which would naturally and instantly produce, in the minds of ordinarily constituted men, the highest degree of exasperation." (C.P. 93, R.E. 45) (quoting *Barnett v. State*, 563 So. 2d 1377, 1379 (Miss. 1990)). However, this defense instruction would have accurately and clearly instructed the jury that they ought to consider the specific defendant's tendencies and history in deciding the issue of the duration "heat of passion." Furthermore, it expressly charged the jury that "heat of passion" was the subject of their province.

Additionally, D-10 is neither duplicated elsewhere in the instruction nor without foundation in the evidence. No where else is the subjective nature of "heat of passion" discussed. No where else is the jury specifically charged with the legal principle that "heat of passion" is a question of fact to be answered by the jury during their deliberations. And, further, no where else is the impact of quick "cooling time," also ε question of fact that must be guided by the very principles contained in *Haley*, discussed for the jury. It is error for the trial court to refuse a defense instruction when

the State presents an incomplete statement of the law and an accurate supplement is presented by the defense. *See McGee v. State*, 820 So. 2d 700 (¶ 15-18) (Miss. App. 2000) (where the State's instruction was accurate, except for excluding the burden of proof on self-defense).

In denying the defendant's proposed instruction, D-10, the trial court refused an instruction that was not inaccurate, duplicative, or without foundation. This statement of the law was liable to have influenced the jury's consideration of the facts in favor of the defendant. And, furthermore, the prejudice against Danny Jackson was compounded by the trial court's grant of the State's cumulative instructions on "deliberate design."

The State's instruction S-9, read, in part: "Deliberate design' to kill a person may be formed very quickly and perhaps only moments before the act of killing the reson. However, a 'deliberate design' can not be formed at the very moment of the fatal act." (C.P. Supp., R.E. 46) (S-9 was mistakenly left out of the record and, subsequently, supplemented on motion by the Defendant). First, the instruction is cumulative to other prosecution instructions dealing with deliberate design. The State also defined deliberate design in its instruction S-3. (C.P. 92, R.E. 44) In contrast, only S-5 defined the elements of "heat of passion." (C.P. 93, R.E. 45) This grant of duplicative instructions had the effect of emphasizing the key element of murder over the key element of manslaughter, thereby improperly impacting the preconceptions of the jury and skewing the essential elements of proof in their deliberations on the

separate crimes of murder and manslaughter.

The State may not place a time limit on deliberate design. *Duvall v. State*, 634 So.2d 524, 525 (Miss. 1994). The specific language objected to by defense counsel at trial ("...may be formed very quickly and only moments before the act ...") has roots in Mississippi law. *Gossett v. State*, 660 So. 2d 1285, 1293 (Miss. 1995). In a vacuum it might be appropriate. However, whether or not each distinct thought in an instruction is an accurate statement of the law is not the end of the inquiry.

The State's instructions were more likely to confuse the jury because they bifurcated discussions of "deliberate design" and "heat of passion," leaving the jury able to assume that both might exist in the mind of the defendant at the time. The defense instruction properly set the two concepts apposite from one another ("...in the 'heat of passion,' and not with 'deliberate design'..."). (C.P. 107, R.E. 47) The State's instructions could have led reasonable jurors to consider deliberate design before considering heat of passion, instead of considering both equally and contemporaneously. Further, the defense instruction properly instructed that some provocations "rankle in the breast for days," which could have altered a reasonable juror's interpretation of a key fact in the State's case for design - that Jackson crossed the road while still in the heat of passion to stab again. (C.P. 107, R.E. 47)

By over-emphasizing the elements of murder and offering incomplete instructions on the elements of manslaughter, the jury was more likely to obscure the legal distinctions between an act of desperate, irrational madness and an act of cold, deliberate murder. Therefore, the Appellant respectfully requests this Court to reverse and remand this case to the lower court with proper instructions for a new trial.

ISSUE TWO:

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