#### IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DANNY JERARD JACKSON

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

NO. 2009-KA-1799

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

#### BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

#### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: SCOTT STUART

SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL

MISSISSIPPI BAR NO

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

###

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

#### COURSE AND DISPOSITION OF THE CASE IN THE CIRCUIT COURT

The Grand Jury indicted Danny Jerrard Jackson for the crime of murder. R. Vol. 1/8

The Court tried Jackson before a jury. The jury returned a verdict of "We, the jury find the Defendant, Danny Jerard Jackson, guilty of murder." R. Vol. 1/123

The Court sentenced Jackson to a term of life imprisonment. R. Vol. 1/124

Jackson filed a notice of appeal. R. Vol. 1/139

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On June 27, 2007, after 9:30 at night, Danny Jerard Jackson was knocking on doors at the River Ten Apartements He said he was looking for his wife who was cheating on him. Jack Powell was a security officer at the apartment. Powell told Jackson that he had to stop knocking on people's doors and to leave the apartment complex. R. Vol. 2/78-80

One hour later, Jackson approached Neco Strickland at the Kangaroo gas station at the intersection of Highway 49 and Creosote Road in Harrison County, Mississippi. Jackson pulled a knife from underneath his clothing and stabbed Strickland numerous times. R. Vol. 2/ 107. Strickland ran away across the road to the parking lot of a Subway restaurant and collapsed face down on the ground. R. Vol. 2/ 94-96

Jackson walked back to his car, got in and drove to the place where Strickland had collapsed.

Jackson got out of the car and began to stab Strickland again, this time in Strickland's back. R. Vol.

2/ 95

R. Vol. 3/270

Jackson said he walked to the pump, asked Strickland his name, and then he blacked out.

R. Vol. 3/270

Neco Strickland died of massive blood loss due to stab wounds. R. Vol. 3/187.

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE NUMBER ONE.

Jackson claims the trial judge abused his discretion when he charged the jury on murder.

#### ISSUE NUMBER TWO.

Jackson claims that the trial judge erred when he allowed the State to impeach a witness with evidence of a prior conviction for possession of drugs.

King and two other witnesses all testified that Jackson had a reputation for peace and honesty. King alone was impeached. The other two witnesses, who gave the same testimony on behalf of King, were not impeached, and their testimony on behalf of Jackson was consistent with King's testimony. Even if the jury was given King's testimony with King's prior conviction to consider, the other two gave the same testimony without any impeachment. The jury could have

discounted King's testimony and still had the testimony of two witnesses, who were not impeached, to evaluate when they considered Jackson's reputation for peacefulness and honesty. Any error would have been harmless.

#### ISSUE NUMBER THREE.

Jackson argues that the trial judge erred when he denied Jackson's motion for a directed verdict and motion for a new trial. He again argues that the evidence did not prove that he had the intent to kill Neco Strickland and that he killed him in the heat of passion.

The evidence was sufficient to support a verdict of guilty. The evidence showed that Jackson armed himself with the murder weapon before he approached Strickland, had already gone to Strickland's apartment complex, and had been acting differently, in a less kind and loving manner for a period of two weeks before he killed Neco Strickland.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### ISSUE NUMBER ONE.

# WHETHER OR NOT THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED WHEN HE INSTRUCTED THE JURY ON MURDER AND HEAT OF PASSION MANSLAUGHTER.

Jackson argues the Court erred when it instructed the jury. Jackson complains that the court erred granting State's instruction S-9 and denied Jackson's proffered instruction D-10.

Even Jackson's testimony supports a finding of deliberate action. He said that after he realized that Strickland was there, he walked to his car, got his knife(which he concealed underneath his clothing), walked to where Neco Strickland was standing at the gas pump, and he then blacked out. With all due respect, that supports a finding that Jackson acted with deliberate design when he then stabbed Strickland. That testimony does not support a finding that Jackson acted in the heat of passion.

Jackson said he first went to get his knife, then lost control, and then he blacked out. By getting his knife first and then immediately walking to meet Neco Strickland, he demonstrated the deliberate design to kill him.

Jackson's argument that the jury was not properly instructed that they could have considered that he was in the heat of passion for a period of time even for weeks is refuted by Jackson's testimony. He said he did not stay in the rage all the time because he had to go to work during that period of time. He also described how after he saw Neco Strickland he went to his car and armed himself with the knife he used to kill Strickland and then approached Strickland. He says it was only after he arrived at Strickland's location that he lost control and blacked out. If he had not intended to use the knife, he would have had no reason to return to his car first before he approached and killed Strickland.

Jackson probably received the heat of passion instruction when the evidence did not support granting it. It was certainly not error to refuse Jackson's requested instruction after already granting a heat-of-passion instruction.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews all of the instructions as a whole. When the appellate Court reviews the trial Court denying a requested jury instruction, it is not error if the instruction accurately states the law, is supported by the evidence, and is not covered by other instructions.

#### APPLICABLE FACTS

The trial Judge gave instructions on murder and heat of passion manslaughter. R. Vol. 1/92-93, 95.

Jackson did not deny that he told Detective Kirkland that he knew about the relationship for two or three months before the killing. He saw naked pictures two weeks before the killing. R. Vol.

3/258, 260.

Jackson said that he was asking about Neco Strickland and his car two weeks before the killing. R. Vol. 3/259.

Jackson admitted that he did not stay in the uncontrollable rage for the entire two weeks. R. Vol. 3/261.

Jackson said that, after he saw Neco Strickland, he went to his car and got his eight-inch knife. R. Vol. 3/265.

Jackson said he then walked over to Strickland and blacked out. R. Vol. 3/270

Jackson testified that he did not remember what happened, but he admitted that there was a statement that said he told Detective Kirkland that he stabbed Strickland. R. Vol. 3/ 271.

Between 9:20 and 9:35 Danny Jerard Jackson was at the River Ten Apartment complex where he said his wife was with another man. Jack Powell was a security officer at the complex, and he talked to Jackson from a distance of 5-6 feet. Powell said Jackson did not appear to be mad. R. Vol. 2/79-81

It was after 10:00 when Jackson stabbed and killed Neco Strickland. R. Vol. 2/104

Jackson had the knife beneath his clothing. He pulled it out and stabbed Neco Strickland.

R. Vol. 2/107

Neco Strickland, referred to as "the smaller man", ran away across the street and collapsed face down on the ground. The larger man got into his car, drove to the smaller man, and stabbed him in the back. R. Vol. 2/94-96

When Jackson walked to his car after Neco Strickland ran off he was walking at an average pace. R. Vol. 2/118

Jackson testified that he "blacked out" and did not remember what happened when he walked

to the pump where Neco Strickland was standing.

#### LEGAL PRINCIPLES

It is not error to deny a proffered instruction if the matter in the instruction is covered in the other instructions given by the Court to the jury.

Questions of criminal intent are for the trier of fact to resolve. The task of the reviewing court is to evaluate the trial court's instruction to the jury to ensure they were properly informed of the state's burden of proof. *Williams v. State*, 590 So. 2d 1374, 1379 (Miss. 1991).

Jury instructions must be read as a whole. If the instructions properly instruct the jury when read together, an improper instruction is harmless error. *Hornburger v. State*, 650 So. 2d 510, 515 (Miss. 1995).

Jury instructions are reviewed as a whole and not individually. A defendant is entitled to have jury instructions given which present his theory of the case. This entitlement is limited to instructions that correctly state the law, are not covered fairly elsewhere in the instructions, and have a foundation in the evidence. *Heidel v. State*, 587 So. 2d 835, 842 (Miss. 1991).

# THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR DENYING JACKSON'S REQUESTED HEAT-OF-PASSION INSTRUCTION AND GRANTING THE ELEMENTS INSTRUCTION.

Jackson complains mostly that the instructions unfairly place a time limit on the deliberate design.

When the evidence of Jackson's testimony is examined, it supports a finding that Jackson, while maybe suffering from the anger for may be weeks, was in his right mind when he realized who Neco Strickland was at the Kangaroo gas station, went to his car and obtained an eight-inch knife, and then went to the location where Strickland was standing at the pumps.

According to Jackson, he had not lost him mind at the time he armed himself with the

weapon he used to stab Strickland. He then claims that he blacked out. With all due respect, that does not support "heat-of-passion" manslaughter. That supports a finding that Jackson knew what he was doing and intended to stab Neco Strickland.

The Judge acted out of an abundance of caution when he gave the heat-of-passion instruction.

Jackson was not entitled to more. The Judge did not err charging the jury.

#### ISSUE NUMBER TWO.

WHETHER OR NOT THE TRIAL JUDGE ERRED WHEN HE OVERRULED JACKSON'S OBJECTION TO QUESTIONS ASKED TO TERRY KING ABOUT KING'S PRIOR CONVICTION FOR POSSESSION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE.

Jackson called Jennifer Francine Bridgett, Terry King, and Robin McCant to testify on his behalf. King and the others were non-party witness called as character witnesses. They were not asked to testify about the facts of this case, with the exception of King's demeanor two weeks before the killing.

King's testimony was consistent with the two other witnesses, Bridgett and McCant, who said Jackson had a reputation for being honest and peaceful. Their character evidence testimony about Jackson's reputation in the community for peacefulness and honesty was not impeached. Nor did the State put on character rebuttal evidence to counter their testimony. The jury thus had only their testimony before them to evaluate when they considered Jackson's reputation.

With all due respect, if the testimony about King's prior conviction affected the jury's evaluation, his testimony was still consistent with the testimony of the only other two witnesses who testified about Jackson's reputation. If it was error to admit evidence of the conviction, it was harmless.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

The Court reviews issues about the admission of evidence for abuse of discretion.

#### APPLICABLE FACTS

Jackson called Jennifer Francine Bridgett, Terry King, and Robin McCant to testify as character witnesses. All three testified that Jackson had the reputation of being honest and peaceful. R. Vol. 3/285-286, 290, and 294.

King's testimony:

Jackson called Terry King to testify on his behalf. King and Jackson had been friends since King was thirteen years old. King was thirty-two years of age when he testified for Jackson. R. Vol. 3/289

King said Jackson seemed "... like a pretty cool dude to me."

King said his opinion was that Jackson is very peaceful. King never saw Jackson get in any trouble. R. Vol. 3/290

On cross-examination, the State asked King if he had ever been convicted of a felony. King said "Yes, sir." The State then announced, "Nothing further, your Honor." R. Vol. 3/291

Jackson announced that he had just an objection, unless "... unless they tell us what crime it was." R. Vol. 3/291

The State asked King if he was convicted of possession of a controlled substance in 2002. King said yes.

Jackson objected saying it was a crime which "... is not one that is impeachable under 609."

Jackson said it was improper, and he requested a mistrial. R. Vol. 3/292

The State responded that King was not a party witness, and his conviction was admissible.

The Court overruled the objection. R. Vol. 3/292

#### Robin McCant's testimony:

Jackson's aunt, Robin McCant testified as a character witness. She said she had known her nephew for thirty-five years. McCants said Jackson was a peaceful and honest man. R. Vol. 3/294

McCants said that she noticed Jackson's demeanor changed two weeks before June 26, 2010. She said that he was not his ususal kind and loving self. R. Vol. 3/294-297

Jennifer Francine Bridgett's testimony:

Bridgett testified that Jackson had a reputation of being honest and peaceful. She also said that, two weeks before the killing, Jackson was not his normal self; he was depressed. R. Vol 3/285-286.

#### LEGAL PRINCIPLES

Rule 609, M.R.E., controls admission of evidence attacking the credibility of witnesses with proof of a prior conviction. The evidence is subject to Rule 403, M.R. E., the crime must be punishable by death or imprisonment of one year or more, the court finds that probative value of admitting the evidence outweighs its prejudicial effect to the party, and it occurred within ten years of the trial.

A conviction for possession of cocaine was admissible to impeach a defense witness in a prosecution for aggravated assault. *McCullough v. State*, 750 So. 2d 1212, paragraphs 22-24, (Miss. 1999). Note, the Supreme Court reversed *McCullough* on another ground, *i.e.*, the Court had admitted evidence that McCullough, the party-defendant, had been previously convicted of another shooting.

The Mississippi Supreme Court examined the use of impeachment by prior of the defendant himself in the case of *Malone v. State*, 829 So.2d 1253, paragraph 19 (Miss.Ct.App. 2002). The impeachment of a defendant is to be distinguished from the impeachment of a non-party witness, but

the Court in *Malone* discussed some of the factors to be considered. In determining whether to admit evidence of a defendant's prior criminal history, the court conducts a hearing in accordance with Peterson v. State, 518 So.2d 632 (Miss. 1987). Peterson adopted the list of factors set forth in Gordon v. U.S., 383 F.2d 936 (D.C.Cir.1967) which requires review of: (1) the impeachment value of the prior crime; (2) the point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history; (3) the similarity between the past crime and the charged crime; (4) the importance of the defendant's testimony; and (5) the centrality of the credibility issue. Peterson, 518 So.2d at 636.

# THE JUDGE DID NOT ABUSE HIS DISCRETION WHEN HE ADMITTED THE EVIDENCE OF KING'S PRIOR CONVICTION.

The facts in this case that are relevant to the factors found in *Malone*, *above*, are discussed.

(1) the impeachment value of the prior crime; (2) the point in time of the conviction and the witness's subsequent history; (3) the similarity between the past crime and the charged crime; (4) the importance of the defendant's testimony; and (5) the centrality of the credibility issue.

First, King's conviction occurred in 2002, within ten years of King's testimony. Second, King's crime and the crime for which Jackson was tried were not similar.

Third, King's testimony was not important because two other witnesses McCant and Bridgett gave the same testimony that King gave, *i.e.*, they both also testified that Jackson had a good reputation for peace and honesty. There was no inconsistency in the testimony of Jackson's three character witnesses. Even if the jury disregarded King's testimony because of the evidence of his prior conviction, the jury still had the testimony of McCant and Bridgett. Most importantly, their testimony was consistent with that of King, and they were not impeached. Even if it was error to admit evidence of King's prior conviction, it was harmless.

Finally, the question of King's credibility was not a central issue in the trial of Jackson for

the murder of Neco Strickland. King's testimony was about Jackson's reputation for peacefulness and honesty. The question in issue at the trial and on appeal is whether Jackson killed Neco Strickland with deliberate design or in the heat of passion. King did not claim to be present immediately before or at the killing. He did not testify that Jackson was in the heat of passion or that Jackson was so enraged that he lost his mind when he killed Strickland.

The trial judge did not abuse his discretion and err when he admitted proof of King's prior conviction. If he had erred, it would have been harmless because Jackson put on other evidence of his reputation for peacefulness and honesty through other witnesses who were not impeached with prior convictions. Regarding Jackson's character witnesses, the jury had only testimony that Jackson had a good reputation for peacefulness and honesty.

#### ISSUE NUMBER THREE.

# WHETHER OR NOT THE COURT ERRED WHEN IT DENIED JACKSON'S MOTION FOR A DIRECTED VERDICT.

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